9

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

AUG 16 2017

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge  
S. Jackson Kimball, Special Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-002118

Lucille H. Ray, Appellant,

v.

City of Rock Hill, South Carolina, a Municipal Corporation, and South  
Carolina Department of Transportation, an agency of the State of South  
Carolina, Defendants,

Of which City of Rock Hill is the Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Richard B. Fennell  
S.C. Bar No. 10467  
James, McElroy & Diehl, P.A.  
600 S. College Street, Charlotte, NC 28202

Charles S. Bradford

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

Appellant Lucille H. Ray (“Appellant” or “Ray”) respectfully appeals the Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment to the City of Rock Hill of the Honorable S. Jackson Kimball, entered on August 12, 2014, the Order Denying Plaintiff’s and Defendant’s Motions for Reconsideration of the Honorable S. Jackson Kimball, entered on April 21, 2015, and the Order Granting Defendant’s Motion *in Limine* and Directed Verdict against Plaintiff of the Honorable D. Garrison Hill, entered on September 13, 2016. Ray raises the following issues on appeal:

- I. Did the trial court err in its summary judgment order by dismissing Ray’s claims for inverse condemnation and injunctive relief, and by failing to reconsider and alter its summary judgment order?
- II. Did the trial court err in excluding the testimony of Ray’s expert witness, Michael Leonard, regarding abatability which resulted in a directed verdict on Ray’s trespass claim?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Ray filed this action against the City of Rock Hill, South Carolina (“Respondent” or the “City”) and the South Carolina Department of Transportation (“SCDOT”) on November 6, 2012, asserting claims for trespass and inverse condemnation. The Complaint was later amended to assert claims for trespass, inverse condemnation, injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees against the City. The gravamen of the complaint is as follows. The case centers around a stormwater pipe which flows directly under the house that Ray has lived in for 30 years. The Amended Complaint asserts that the City built and maintains the stormwater pipe and continues to direct surface water runoff through the pipe, and that as a result Ray’s residence has experienced structural damage.

The City answered the Amended Complaint on December 27, 2012, denying all liability. SCDOT answered the Amended Complaint on March 15, 2013, also denying all liability. On March 24, 2014, SCDOT filed a motion for summary judgment on each of Ray's claims. The Court granted SCDOT's motion on August 1, 2014, and SCDOT was dismissed from the case.

The City filed for summary judgment on May 19, 2014, arguing in part that the statute of limitations barred all claims. On August 12, 2014, the Honorable S. Jackson Kimball entered an Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment to the City of Rock Hill ("Summary Judgment Order"), granting partial summary judgment on Ray's claims for inverse condemnation, injunctive relief, and attorney's fees, but permitting Ray's claims for trespass to proceed. The City filed a motion to alter or amend the Summary Judgment Order, while Ray filed her own motion for reconsideration focusing on issues separate from those raised by the City. Judge Kimball reaffirmed his prior ruling and denied both motions by entry of an Order Denying Plaintiff's and Defendant's Motions for Reconsideration on April 21, 2015 (the "Reconsideration Order"). The City filed an additional motion for summary judgment on August 5, 2015, which was denied by order entered September 23, 2015.

On the day of trial, September 12, 2016, the City brought a motion *in limine* seeking to exclude the testimony of Ray's expert, Michael Leonard ("Leonard"), as to abatability, causation and damages. The motion was heard by the presiding trial judge, the Honorable D. Garrison Hill, who granted the motion and excluded Leonard's expert testimony on abatability. Accordingly, the City moved in open court for a directed verdict against Ray, which Ray acknowledged was appropriate in light of Judge Hill's

determination on the motion *in limine*. Judge Hill then granted the City's motion for directed verdict. The Order Granting Defendant's Motion *in Limine* and Directed Verdict was entered by the Court on September 13, 2016 ("Directed Verdict Order"). Ray timely appealed the Summary Judgment Order, Reconsideration Order, and the Directed Verdict Order by serving its Notice of Appeal on October 12, 2016.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Ray lives at 330 College Avenue in Rock Hill (the "Property"). She purchased the house and lot in 1985. There is a storm water pipe which runs beneath her house. The pipe receives stormwater from a roughly 29 acre watershed area. That area is managed through a system of pipes, including pipes on College and Strait Street over which the City acknowledges dominion. They flow into the disputed pipe.

Ray received a survey as part of the real estate closing on the property which showed those easements encumbering her property which were of record. There was no easement shown for the stormwater pipe. (R. p. 802, ¶ 4). She granted an easement to the City in 1999 so the City could construct improvements to its sewer pipe system. (R. pp. 727-728). The line was not discovered at that point, either. Further excavation occurred when she had an addition constructed in 2001-2002. (R. p. 726). There was still no evidence of the pipe.

The house did show evidence of settlement over the years. Ray did not worry, at least not initially. She made repairs, and was told that the settlement she was witnessing was not unusual. (R. p. 803, ¶ 7). New, more substantial manifestations of damage have appeared in the last few years, particularly since 2011. (R. p. 883, ¶ 6). Ray knew there was a stormdrain in front of her house, and began to wonder if it had an impact on what

was happening in her home. (R. pp. 747-748). She had contact with City officials, and was told many different things about the pipe. (R. pp. 719-724; R. p. 803, ¶ 8). For example, she was told specifically in April 2011 that there was, in fact, a pipe on her property, but it did not run under her house. The City took a video of the pipe, but would not disclose its results. She was then told that a pipe ran under her house, but that the City would “never” move it. (R. pp. 719-724; R. p. 803, ¶¶ 8-9). She knew that the pipe ran under her house, then, as of June 3, 2011, and that the City claimed to control it, at least to the extent that it stated that it would never be moved. (R. p. 724).

A number of maps produced in discovery reveal that the location of the pipe has been known to the City since at least 1941. (R. p. 841, ¶ 16). The direction of the water flow was in fact altered in 1941, over to pipes located beneath Lucas Street. (R. p. 804, ¶ 12). There is a manhole cover located at approximately the point where the pipe hits another junction point and the water is channeled to Lucas Street. (R. pp. 688-691; R. p. 841, ¶ 16). The manhole also appears on City maps since 1941.

Ray hired Mike Leonard in early 2012 to help her determine what was happening with the advancing damage to her house, and specifically to determine its cause. (R. pp. 802-803, ¶ 5; R. p. 840, ¶ 7). Mr. Leonard asked for stormwater maps from the City in order to further his analysis. The City at first refused to provide anything. (R. p. 803, ¶ 10). A map was eventually provided, but turned out to be inaccurate. (R. pp. 744-745). Mr. Leonard was able to learn a good deal about the physical condition of the stormwater pipe at issue in late 2012. The City was doing some work on the sanitary sewer system on College Avenue. (R. p. 804, ¶ 11). In the process, several sections of pipe were disconnected from the pipe section running under Ray’s house. (R. p. 841, ¶ 9). The

pipe was revealed to be old, made of terra cotta, 24” in diameter, and, without question, actively channeling water under Ray’s house. (R. pp. 692-700; R. p. 841, ¶ 10). The visual evidence confirmed what Leonard suspected: the area in front of Ms. Ray’s house serves as a junction which receives water from a number of sources, including a pipe which runs down Strait Street, which in turn collects and channels stormwater from Oakland Avenue, a state maintained road. (R. pp. 840-841, ¶¶ 9, 14; R. pp. 866-875; R. p. 811). The City maintains Strait Street and College Avenue. Id. It appears from documents produced in discovery that the total watershed is approximately 29 acres. (R. p. 841, ¶ 13).

Mr. Leonard ultimately concluded that the pipe is no longer adequately sized to perform the function it must now perform. The pipe is also significantly damaged. Water is leaking from it into the soils surrounding it, impacting their stability. (R. p. 841, ¶ 9; R. p. 922, ¶ 3). A video was shot of the pipe which shows the degree of damage that existed in April, 2014. (R. pp. 924-978). That is, in turn, causing physical damage to the house. Leonard Dep. Tr. pp. 78-87; R. p. 922, ¶¶ 3-5). The damage is in a number of locations, but is concentrated along the location of the pipe. (R. pp. 729-743). Ray’s evidence shows that it will cost approximately \$190,000 to block the pipe and repair the resulting damage to her property. This is independent of the cost that will be associated with changing the flow of the water so it no longer is channeled beneath Ray’s house. (R. pp. 876-877). This could be accomplished in a number of ways, including by changing the flow of water away from Ray’s house and down Lucas, instead of beneath the structure. (R. p. 841, ¶ 17; R. p. 922, ¶ 7). There is evidence that the City considered such a fix. (R. p. 922, ¶ 7).

This change in how the water is managed should have taken place in November 2012, when the City disconnected the pipes on College Street from the disputed pipe. Ray told the City in November 2012 that it could not reconnect to the pipe on her property. (R. pp. 803-804, ¶¶ 10, 13). The City did so anyway, water continues to flow through the pipe beneath Ray's house, and the resulting damage to the house was increased in magnitude.

### ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APPELLANT'S CLAIMS FOR INVERSE CONDEMNATION AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF.

Appellate courts review “questions of law de novo.” Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 564, 658 S.E.2d 80, 90 (2008). Similarly, review of an order granting summary judgment is de novo, as appellate courts apply the same standard governing the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP: “summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005). Appellate courts must take “all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences . . . in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party below.” Id. The nonmoving party is only required to “submit a mere scintilla of evidence to withstand a summary judgment motion . . . .” Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

Because genuine issues of material exist with respect to whether the City is committing a continuing trespass entitling Plaintiff to injunctive relief, and whether the City committed an affirmative act sufficient to constitute an inverse condemnation, the

trial court improperly entered the Summary Judgment Order in the City's favor, as well as the Reconsideration Order upholding that ruling. Both the Summary Judgment Order and the Reconsideration Order should be reversed with respect to Plaintiff's claims for injunctive relief and inverse condemnation.

*A. There Is a Genuine Issue of Material Fact as to Whether the City Is Committing a Continuing Trespass Entitling Plaintiff to Injunctive Relief.*

South Carolina courts have long recognized that where a trespass is continuing and repeated, permanent injunction is the appropriate remedy. *E.g.*, McClellan v. Taylor, 54 S.C. 430, 437, 32 S.E. 527, 529-530 (S.C. 1899); Little v. Little, 223 S.C. 332, 341, 75 S.E.2d 871, 875 (S.C. 1953); Mack v. Edens, 306 S.C. 433, 437, 412 S.E.2d 431, 434 (S.C. Ct. App. 1991). Injunctive relief is necessary to "protect the landowner's property rights from hurt or destruction" caused by "permanent and recurring . . . injury, which cannot otherwise be prevented." Mack, 306 S.C. at 437, 412 S.E.2d at 434. Moreover, injunctive relief is necessary to avoid a multiplicity of actions for each individual and repeated trespass. McClellan, 54 S.C. at 437, 32 S.E. at 529. "[A]lthough each of these acts taken by itself may not be destructive, and the legal remedy may, therefore, be adequate for each single act, if it stood alone, then, also, the entire wrong will be prevented or stopped by injunction, on the ground of avoiding a repetition of similar actions." Id. Courts will enjoin continuing trespass "because, being continuous or repeated, the full compensation for the entire wrong cannot be obtained in one action at law for damages." Id. In other words, where the trespass is continuous and repeated, there exists no adequate remedy at law to address the entirety of the wrong. Id. The Court of Appeals has previously held that injunctive relief is appropriate where the

trespass is in the form of water flowing onto another's land. Mack, 306 S.C. at 437, 412 S.E.2d at 434.

In the Summary Judgment Order, (R. pp. 7-8), the trial court recognized that genuine issues of fact existed as to whether the City had trespassed onto Ray's property, given the City's acknowledgment that it discharges stormwater into the pipe going under Ray's house. Yet the trial court went on to opine that Ray's claim for injunctive relief failed because she had an adequate remedy at law for the City's trespass by way of money damages. The City's trespass on Ray's property is clearly continuing in nature, however, as it reoccurs with every storm and passing rainfall. The City continually collects stormwater underneath City streets and directs that water through the pipe flowing under Ray's house. Indeed, the trial court also found genuine issues of fact as to whether the trespass was abatable, such that "each new invasion of plaintiff's property" began a new statute of limitations period. (R. p. 9). In so doing, the trial court recognized the continuing nature of the City's trespass. Its ruling granting summary judgment to the City on Ray's injunction claim is entirely inconsistent with that finding. Simply repairing the damage, while permitting the City to continue channeling water through the damaged pipe beneath Ray's home, guaranties further litigation between the parties. The Summary Judgment Order and Reconsideration Order should accordingly be reversed, and Ray's claim for injunctive relief permitted to proceed to trial.

B. *There Is a Genuine Issue of Material Fact as to Whether the City Has Committed an Inverse Condemnation.*

In order to establish a claim for inverse condemnation, a plaintiff must show: “(1) an affirmative, positive, aggressive act on the part of the governmental agency; (2) a taking; (3) the taking is for a public use; and (4) the taking has some degree of permanence.” Hawkins v. City of Greenville, 358 S.C. 280, 290, 594 S.E.2d 557, 562 (S.C. Ct. App. 2004). The requirement of an affirmative act is met where a city “was widening and improving a public street when a gas line was breached causing an explosion and fire on the neighboring property,” “excavating a public street” which then “flooded during heavy rain damaging the property owner’s store,” or capped a landfill as part of a permanent public project. WRB L.P. v. County of Lexington, 369 S.C. 30, 32-33, 630 S.E.2d 479, 481 (S.C. 2006) (citing Kline v. City of Columbia, 249 S.C. 532, 535, 155 S.E.2d 597, 599 (S.C. 1967), and Berry’s On Main, Inc. v. City of Columbia, 277 S.C. 14, 16, 281 S.E.2d 796, 797 (S.C. 1981)). Where the government alters the roadways and topography of the land in such a way as to redirect the flow of surface water, it also engages in sufficient “overt or positive action” necessary to establish inverse condemnation. Newsome v. Surfside Beach, 300 S.C. 14, 16, 386 S.E.2d 274, 275 (S.C. Ct. App. 1989).

Ray submitted evidence that in November 2012, the City disconnected several pipes as part of a construction project on College Avenue, including the pipe running beneath Ray’s house. (R. p. 804, ¶ 11). Only days later, and over Ray’s express objection, the City then reconnected the pipe running under her property to the City’s stormwater system. Id. The City reconnected the pipes after specifically being instructed not to do so in a letter from Charles Bradford, Ray’s attorney. (R. pp. 837-838). This

positive, aggressive act has continued to damage her property and benefit the City ever since.

Though Ray specifically discussed the City affirmatively reconnecting the pipes in her briefs both on summary judgment, the Summary Judgment Order made no mention of the fact. Ray filed her motion to reconsider the Summary Judgment Order, in part, to request that the trial court re-review those facts and the letter drafted by Charles Bradford. In the April 15, 2015 hearing on the cross-motions to reconsider, Judge Kimball opined that he did “not find that it represents a positive, aggressive act within the meaning of the case.” (R. p. 601, lines 21-24 15). Specifically, Judge Kimball stated that cases finding affirmative acts were cases in which “the punitive [sic] condemnor did something different to change the flow of water, for example, reconstructing the roads to create a different pattern of drainage, things like that.” (R. p. 602, lines 1-7).

Respectfully, Judge Kimball misinterpreted the appellate courts’ guidance in WRB, Kline, Berry’s On Main, and Newsome. Those cases stand for the proposition that an inverse condemnation claim requires a local government take an affirmative, independent act – to *do something* of its own initiative – rather than merely fail to take some step or negligently attempt to address some problem. Here, the City, of its own accord, dug up College Avenue, broke apart a number of pipes, and then voluntarily repaired and reconnected those pipes to its stormwater system. For a number of days, the City’s stormwater system did not flow under Ray’s house. As part of the City’s infrastructure project, however, the City then reconnected the pipes and redirected water back onto Ray’s property, knowing that Ray disputed the City’s ability to do so and had warned the City not to. There are no allegations that the City negligently reconnected the

pipes and by that negligence caused Ray's property to suffer damage. Nor is Ray relying on the City's failure to properly design and construct a stormwater system that could handle the volume of water flowing down College Avenue. Rather, Ray's inverse condemnation claim is based upon the City having undertaken a permanent public project to modernize its infrastructure along College Avenue, and as a result, taking positive steps to direct its stormwater system to flow directly under Ray's house. Accordingly, Ray has established, at the very least, a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the City engaged in an affirmative, positive, and aggressive act sufficient to give rise to a claim for inverse condemnation, and summary judgment was improper.

The Summary Judgment Order and Reconsideration Order should therefore be reversed with respect to Ray's inverse condemnation claim, and this claim be permitted to proceed to trial.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY EXCLUDING EVIDENCE FROM PLAINTIFF'S EXPERT WITNESS AND ENTERING A DIRECTED VERDICT AGAINST PLAINTIFF.

The trial court erred in granting the County's motion *in limine* to exclude Michael Leonard's testimony and in awarding judgment to the City, such that the Directed Verdict Order should be reversed.

The purpose of a motion *in limine* is to "narrow the evidentiary issues for trial." Tompkins v. Eckerd, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 46718, 4-5 (D.S.C. April 3, 2012). Other courts have routinely recognized the dangers of converting a motion *in limine* to a dispositive motion or directed verdict and have accordingly refused to allow non-evidentiary matters to be raised *in limine*. See, e.g., Louzon v. Ford Motor Co., 718 F.3d 556, 561-562 (6th Cir. 2013); Mid-America Tablewares v. Mogi Trading Co., 100 F.3d

1353, 1363 (7th Cir. 1996). Though the “admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge,” a ruling on a motion *in limine* will be reversed if the ruling constituted an abuse of discretion. State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when “the decision is controlled by an error of law or is based on unsupported factual conclusions.” Holmes v. Haynsworth, Sinkler & Boyd, P.A., 408 S.C. 620, 642, 760 S.E.2d 399, 410 (S.C. 2014).

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