THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

D. Garrison Hill, Circuit Court Judge  
S. Jackson Kimball, Special Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-002118

---

Lucille H. Ray . . . . . Appellant,

v.

City of Rock Hill, South Carolina,  
a Municipal Corporation, and  
South Carolina Department of Transportation  
an agency of the State of South Carolina Defendants,

Of which City of Rock Hill is . . . . . Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

W. Mark White  
Jeremy D. Melville  
SPENCER & SPENCER, P.A.  
226 East Main Street  
P.O. Box 790  
Rock Hill, SC 29731  
Tel: (803) 327-7191

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

In the Summary Judgment Order, the lower court aptly cited the holding and analysis in Hawkins as being dispositive as to Plaintiff's inverse condemnation claim. (Summary Judgment Order, R. p. 8.) The lower court cited the following passage from Hawkins:

Hawkins has failed to allege any affirmative acts by the City which damaged the [plaintiff's] property or otherwise diminished his rights in the property. Most of the City's "act" he avers support his inverse condemnation claim are merely failures to act. Specifically, Hawkins asserts the City improperly allowed the development of neighboring parcels of commercial property which altered the elevation of the area and added strain to the Laurel Creek drainage pipes beyond their capacity and then failed to replace these pipes. The South Carolina cases addressing inverse condemnation are

uniform in requiring that the claim be proved by 'affirmative, positive, aggressive' acts by the governmental agency. Allegations of mere failure to act are insufficient.

Hawkins, 358 S.C. at 291, 594 S.E.2d at 562-63.

In Plaintiff's Brief, Plaintiff argues that the City's maintenance of a drainage pipe situated in the middle of a City street upstream from the Subject Property in November 2012 constituted an affirmative, positive, aggressive act necessary to establish a claim for inverse condemnation. Plaintiff's argument is unavailing. Plaintiff fashions this argument in an ambiguous manner which clouds the location and nature of the work, which the lower court was readily able to identify. The work at issue was to a drainage pipe situated in the middle of College Avenue. The work at issue was not to the Subject Pipe or even to a pipe connected directly to the Subject Pipe. Rather, the work at issue was routine maintenance to restore a drainage pipe that had been severed during work on a unrelated sanitary sewer line. (Ray Dep., R. p. 715, line 10-p. 716, line 3). As noted by the trial court, the City's maintenance of existing stormwater infrastructure upstream from the Subject Pipe is not a positive, aggressive act for purposes of inverse condemnation. (Summary Judgment Order, R. pp. 7-8.) Moreover, Plaintiff testified that the repair work at issue did not result in any

damages to Plaintiff or the Property. (Ray Dep., R. p. 713, line 13-p. 715, line 9.)

Plaintiff cites a group of cases to support her position; however, these cases expose the fundamental flaw in her legal theory. In each of the cases cited by Plaintiff the claimant was able to identify a specific act by a governmental entity which then resulted in a taking of property. See WRB L.P. v. County of Lexington, 369 S.C. 30, 32-33, 630 S.E.2d 479, 481 (2006) (capping of landfill resulting in the channeling of methane gas to plaintiff's property); Kline v. City of Columbia, 249 S.C. 532, 535, 155 S.E.2d 597, 599 (1967) (improvements to public street resulting in gas explosion); Berry's on Main, Inc. v. City of Columbia, 277 S.C. 14, 281 S.E.2d 796 (1981) (removal of public sidewalks in downtown development project resulting in flooding of plaintiff's property); Newsome v. Surfside Beach, 300 S.C. 14, 386 S.E.2d 274 (Ct. App. 1989) (raising street by 17 inches resulting in washout of plaintiff's property). In this case Plaintiff has identified a condition (water channeling through the Subject Pipe) but she has been unable to produce any evidence to attribute this condition to any action by the City. As such, the granting of summary judgment was appropriate.

C. Summary Judgment was Proper with Respect to Injunctive Relief

The trial court correctly ruled that Plaintiff's claim for injunctive relief fails as a matter of law because Plaintiff's claims for monetary damages provided an adequate remedy at law. (Summary Judgment Order, R. p. 9.)

"Actions for injunctive relief are equitable in nature. In equitable actions, an appellate court may review the record and make findings of fact in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. To obtain an injunction, a party must demonstrate irreparable harm, a likelihood of success on the merits, and the absence of an adequate remedy at law. An injunction is a drastic remedy issued by the court in its discretion to prevent irreparable harm suffered by the plaintiff." Denman v. City of Columbia, 387 S.C. 131, 140-41, 691 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2010). "An injunction may be granted where some irreparable injury is threatened for which the parties have no adequate remedy at law." HHHunt Corp. v. Town of Lexington, 389 S.C. 623, 639, 699 S.E.2d 699, 707 (Ct. App. 2010). "An 'adequate' remedy at law is one which is as certain, practical, complete and efficient to attain the ends of justice and its administration as the remedy in equity." Nutt Corp. v. Howell Rd., LLC, 396 S.C. 323, 328, 721 S.E.2d 447, 450 (Ct. App. 2011).

The trial court correctly found that Plaintiff's claims for monetary damages provide an adequate remedy at law. The damages sought by Plaintiff in this case relate to alleged structural damages to her residence. In discovery Plaintiff identified a specific sum of money which would resolve the claimed damage and make Plaintiff whole. (Responses to Int., No. 6, R. p. 996.) Further, Plaintiff designated a structural engineer who submitted a cost estimate for remediation of the alleged structural damage. (Leonard Report, Sept. 5, R. p. 1004.) There is no evidence in the Record that these claimed monetary damages were incomplete or otherwise insufficient. Plaintiff claims entitlement to injunctive relief because of the ongoing flow of water through the Subject Pipe. As set forth above, Plaintiff failed to produce any evidence that the City installed the Subject Pipe. Accordingly, summary judgment was appropriate on this cause of action.

**II. LOWER COURT'S UNAPPEALED RULING ON THE TRIGGER DATE FOR THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IS AN ADDITIONAL GROUND FOR DISMISSAL OF THE INVERSE CONDEMNATION CAUSE OF ACTION**

The lower court's unappealed rulings become the law of the case and must be assumed correct as a matter of law. Continental Ins. Co. v. Shives, 328 S.C. 470, 475, 492 S.E.2d 808, 810 (Ct.App.1997). Moreover, "issues not argued in the appellate briefs are deemed abandoned." Abraham v. Palmetto

Unified School Dist. No. 1, 343 S.C. 36, 45, 538 S.E.2d 656, 666 n.3 (Ct. App. 2000) (internal citations omitted).

The lower court ruled that at some time in 2008 Plaintiff had sufficient knowledge of the facts pertaining to the Subject Pipe under her house such that she knew or should have known of a claim for damages. (Summary Judgment Order, R. p. 8.) Plaintiff did not file this action until November 6, 2012. The result of this ruling is that the statute of limitations bars Plaintiff's claims against the City, except to the extent she could prove a continuing trespass by the City. Plaintiff has not appealed this ruling and, accordingly, this ruling is the law of the case.

The lower court's unappealed ruling on the trigger date of the statute of limitations provides separate, independent grounds for this Court to affirm the dismissal Plaintiff's claim for inverse condemnation. The City raises this issue as an additional sustaining ground.

"A respondent may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court. The appellate court may review respondent's additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing

in the record to affirm the lower court's judgment." Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346-47, 692 S.E.2d 900, 904 (2010).

In this action, the lower court dismissed Plaintiff's inverse condemnation claim for lack of evidence of an affirmative act necessary to establish a prima facie case of inverse condemnation against the City. (Summary Judgment Order, R. pp. 7-8.) Therefore, the lower court had no need to rule upon the City's statute of limitations argument as applied to Plaintiff's inverse condemnation claim.

"According to the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when a cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered. The statute runs from the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct." Dean v. Ruscon Corp., 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996).

In the Summary Judgment Order, the trial court found that Plaintiff knew or should have known of any claims relating to the Subject Pipe as of 2008. (Summary Judgment Order, R. pp. 8-9.) Therefore, the statute of limitations began to run no later than December 2008. All of Plaintiff's claims are subject to a three year statute of limitations. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-30; Webb v. Greenwood Cnty., 229 S.C. 267, 276, 92 S.E.2d 688, 691 (1956). Plaintiff's claims expired no

later than December 2011, but Plaintiff did not file this action until November 6, 2012. Accordingly, the statute of limitations bars Plaintiff's claim for inverse condemnation as well as any other claim by Plaintiff relating to the Subject Pipe arising prior to November 6, 2009.

### III. THE TRIAL COURT'S DIRECTED VERDICT AS TO PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR TRESPASS WAS PROPER

#### A. Standard for Directed Verdict

"When considering a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." Collins v. Bisson Moving & Storage, Inc., 332 S.C. 290, 295, 504 S.E.2d 347, 350 (Ct. App. 1998). "When the evidence yields only one inference, a directed verdict in favor of the moving party is proper." Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 22, 640 S.E.2d 486, 498 (Ct. App. 2006). "In reviewing the grant of a directed verdict, the appellate court should not ignore facts unfavorable to the opposing party. Rather, it must determine whether a verdict for the opposing party would be reasonably possible under the facts as liberally construed in his favor." Collins at 296, 504 S.E.2d at 350.

#### B. Permanent Trespass

In the Summary Judgment Order, the lower court granted summary judgment as to any permanent trespass and refused to

grant summary judgment as to any continuing trespass. The lower court ruled that Plaintiff might be able to establish a claim for continuing trespass to the extent Plaintiff can show intentional collection and discharge of water under Plaintiff's dwelling causing damage to Plaintiff's dwelling within the three-year limitations period. (Summary Judgment Order, R. p. 8.) As an additional sustaining ground, this Court should affirm because the trespass alleged by Plaintiff can only be classified as a permanent trespass as a matter of law.

The central issue in distinguishing a continuing trespass from a permanent trespass is whether abatement of the trespass is reasonably and practically possible. "A nuisance is continuing if abatement is reasonably and practically possible."<sup>2</sup> Hedgepath v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 348 S.C. 340, 357, 559 S.E.2d 327, 337 (Ct. App. 2001).

The material distinction between a continuing trespass or inverse condemnation and a permanent one is aptly set forth in the Restatements as follows:

A continuing trespass must be distinguished from a trespass which permanently changes the physical condition of the land. Thus, if one, without a privilege to do so, enters land of which another is

---

<sup>2</sup> Plaintiff conceded at trial and has not appealed the finding that Plaintiff has the burden of proof with respect to establishing a continuing trespass and damages arising within the applicable limitations period. (Trial Trans., R. p. 672, lines 8-20, R. p. 682, line 25-p. 683, line 5.)

in possession and destroys or removes a structure standing upon the land, or digs a well or makes some other excavation, or removes earth or some other substance from the land, the fact that the harm thus occasioned on the land is a continuing harm does not subject the actor to liability for a continuing trespass. Since his conduct has once for all produced a permanent injury to the land, the possessor's right is to full redress in a single action for the trespass, and a subsequent transferee of the land, as such, acquires no cause of action for the alteration of the condition of the land.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 162, comment e. Persuasive analysis may be derived from the Pennsylvania supreme court: "If a nuisance at the time of creation is a permanent one, the consequences of which in the normal course of things will continue indefinitely, there can be but a single action therefor to recover past and future damages and the statute of limitations runs against such cause of action from the time it first occurred, or at least from the date it should reasonably have been discovered." Sustrik v. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp., 413 Pa. 324, 328, 197 A.2d 44, 46-47 (1964).

This Court has previously held that the components of a drainage system are permanent and subject to a single, set limitations period. See Glenn v. Sch. Dist. No. Five of Anderson Cnty., 294 S.C. 530, 536, 366 S.E.2d 47, 50 (Ct. App. 1988); Whitfield Const. Co. v. Bank of Tokyo Trust Co., 338 S.C. 207, 218, 525 S.E.2d 888, 894 (Ct. App. 1999).

In Glenn, a lower riparian property owner sued upstream property owners for property damage resulting from improvements to drainage infrastructure resulting in the diversion of surface water. Glenn's property was gradually and progressively eroded over time as a result of the upstream owners' actions. Id. at 532, 366 S.E.2d at 50. This Court upheld summary judgment in favor of the upstream owners and held that the improvements were "permanent" and created a "single cause of action to be asserted within the period of the statute of limitations." Id. at 536, 366 S.E.2d at 50. The Court further held that Glenn failed to establish the injury was reasonably abatable. The suggestion that the school district could route the water away from Glenn's property was insufficient to establish the injury was reasonably abatable. Id. at 536, 366 S.E.2d at 50-51.

The facts and holding in Glenn are instructive in the case *sub judice*. The improvements implemented by the school district triggered a single cause of action for progressive damages suffered by a downstream landowner. Similar to Plaintiff's argument in this case, the Glenn plaintiff argued that because the flooding occurred during separate and distinct rain events, the statute of limitations should run from each flooding event and plaintiff could recover for damages suffered during the new statutory period. Id. at 50,

366 S.E.2d at 535. But as the court explained, the fundamental flaw in plaintiff's reasoning is that it focused on the continuity of the flooding rather than on the underlying act of the school district and the singularity of the damages suffered by the plaintiff. The school district's improvements constitute a single act leading to separate and distinct flood events which culminated in a single indivisible injury: the gradual and progressive erosion of the plaintiff's land. This is the touchstone for distinguishing a permanent trespass from a continuing trespass.

In the present action, Plaintiff's claim for trespass would have ripened, if at all, when the Subject Pipe was constructed. Plaintiff's focus on the separate and distinct episodes of water flowing through the Subject Pipe is akin to the Glenn plaintiff's misdirected focus on the separate and distinct flooding events. Plaintiff is not claiming separate and independent injuries each time water enters the Subject Pipe but rather one indivisible injury to the structure of the house arising from the existence of the pipe under the house and the natural aging and degradation thereof over time. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's directed verdict on the ground that any trespass as alleged by Plaintiff is a permanent trespass as a matter of law and,

under the law of case doctrine, is barred by the statute of limitations.

### C. Virginia Rule

As an additional sustaining ground, this Court should affirm the trial court because the mere existence of upstream drainage infrastructure is insufficient as a matter of law to render the City liable for a continuing trespass.

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